IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LN MANAGEMENT LLC SERIES 3111) BEL AIR 24G,)

Appellant,

v.

BANK OFAMERICA, N.A.; DITECH FINANCIAL LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Sep 16 2021 08:03 a.m.) Supreme Court Cest 2 Speth AS Brown) Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable Mark R. Denton District Court Case A-12-669570-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Kerry P. Faughnan, Esq., NSB# 12204 PO Box 335361 North Las Vegas, NV 89033 (702) 301-3096 (702)331-4222-Fax Kerry.faughnan@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LN MANAGEMENT LLC SERIES 3111 BEL AIR 24G,

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order granting Respondents Bank of America, N.A. and Ditech Financial LLC's ("Respondents") Motion for Summary Judgment

The motion was heard December 3, 2020, which became a written Order Granting Respondent's Summary Judgment Motion entered January 20, 2021, 4PA937- 962. The Order was a final pursuant to NRCP 54(b). 4PA90.

Written Notice of Entry of Order was filed the same day, January 21, 2021, 4PA963-991.

An appeal is due 30 days from notice of entry of order of the order to be appealed from, NRAP 4(a)(1). Notice of Appeal was filed February 22, 2021, 4PA992-99, making the appeal timely.

This Court has jurisdiction as an appeal may be taken from a district court in a civil action of a final judgment entered in a proceeding. NRAP 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because the matter is not one of the enumerated case categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Was the district court erroneous as a matter of law in finding that the five year rule had not run and that the under NRCP 41(e) the case had been "brought to trial" by virtue of the 2014 MSJ that was subsequently set aside?

Was the district court erroneous as a matter of law in finding Respondent's offer to make payment, without anything more, a valid tender, so that Respondents would be entitled to assert valid tender for the purposes of granting summary judgment as a matter of law without any evidence of futility?

Was the district court erroneous as a matter of law in finding that the foreclosure sale was a sub-priority sale?

Was the district court erroneous as a matter of law in finding that Fannie Mae had an actual interest when BANA had failed to raise the defense during discovery?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state court proceeding was an action to quiet title and for declaratory relief after a home owner association foreclosure, Complaint, 1PA1 – 92, 1PA93-104.

The property came to Appellant LN Management LLC Series 3111 Bel Air 24G ("LN Management") as a result of a December 17, 2012 HOA foreclosure auction for delinquent assessments conducted pursuant to NRS Chapter 116, Foreclosure Deed, 1PA102-104. Appellant LN Management is of the opinion that this foreclosure was a "HOA Super Priority Lien Sale."

Bank of America, N.A. initiated a district court case on October3, 2012. 1PA1-92. LN Management initiated the district court case May 17, 2013 to quiet title in LN Management's name against any and all interested parties. Complaint, 1PA93- 104. The cases were consolidated on October 29, 2013. 1PA105-106.

At the time of the HOA public auction, the public record showed Bank of America, N.A. as the beneficiary of a first deed of trust secured against the property for \$322,100.00 which was recorded October 20, 2004, Deed of Trust, 1PA49 - 77. Ditech is predecessor-in-interest to BANA.

Respondents filed their motion for summary judgment September 29, 2020. Appellant opposed the motion, and Respondents filed a reply. 3PA584 – 4PA867, 4PA868-879, 4PA880 – 935.

The District Court granted Respondent's motion for summary judgment. The order granting summary judgment stated among other facts that:

"27. To the extent LN Management believed the five-year rule expired in October 2017, LN Management has intentionally relinquished any such argument." 1PA976

"55. Just as in *Perla Del Mar*, Bank of America and Miles Bauer offered to pay the HOA, through Collections of America, the superpriority amount "actually due" with no impermissible conditions attached. *See 7510 Perla Del Mar Ave. Trust v. Bank of America*, N.A., 458 P.3d 348, 349 (Nev. 2020) (noting "[a]n actual tender is unnecessary where it is apparent the other party will not accept it."). The HOA, through its agent, stated no superpriority lien existed until Bank of America completed its own foreclosure." 4PA983.

"61. Here, the undisputed evidence shows the HOA's agent, Collections of America, explicitly informed Bank of America it was not "foreclosing on a super-priority lien pursuant to NRS 116.3116" and that the HOA did not claim "to have a super-priority lien since the first mortgage [had] not [been] foreclosed." 4PA984

This resulted in the district court granting thereafter ruling as an issue of law that, despite any actual evidence to support this conclusion and despite the evidence presented showed the five year rule had tolled, that nothing in the Collections of America letter stated they would not accept payments and that the lien foreclosed upon was not reduced to remove the super-priority portion of the lien.

The court thereafter included "final judgment" language in its order granting summary judgment, 4PA990, leading to Notice of Appeal being filed by Appellant LN Management. 4PA992-993.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant LN Management purchased the real property commonly known as 3111 Bel Air Drive #24G, Las Vegas, NV 89109 ("the Property") on December 12, 2012 for \$7,001.00 at an HOA foreclosure auction for delinquent assessments, conducted by Collections of America, Inc pursuant to NRS Chapter 116 for the benefit of Las Vegas International Country Club Estates , Foreclosure Deed, 1PA102 - 104.

At the time of the HOA public auction, the public record showed Bank of America as the beneficiary of a first deed of trust secured against the property.

Respondents filed their case on October 3, 2012. The Five Year Rule expired on October 3, 2017. The District Court failed to dismiss this matter as required under the rule. On February 21, 2017, the Court held a status check which resulted in the Court dismissing all the claims of Green Tree without prejudice which left only LN's claims in the matter. On May 23, 2018, this Court issued an Order of Dismissal.

On June 21, 2018, LN filed a Motion to Reopen Case for the sole purpose of LN filing a Motion for Summary Judgment. The Court entered an Order reopening the case on July 5, 2018. LN filed a Motion for Summary Judgment that was opposed by BANA. 2PA283-2PA363. The matter was

heard on September 27, 2018 and denied without prejudice. No Order was entered as Ditech filed a Notice of Bankruptcy. At no time did BANA move to set aside the dismissal of its claims.

About August 16, 2012 Miles Bauer Bergstrom & Winters, LLP, on behalf of Bank of America, wrote a two page letter to Collections of America ("COA"), the homeowner association's foreclosure trustee, inquiring about the amount due to satisfy the super-priority portion of the HOA's lien, 4PA772-773.

About November 27, 2012, COA, responded to Miles Bauer Bergstrom & Winters, LLP with a Payoff Demand. 4PA775.

From this point, there was no further action taken by Miles Bauer Bergstrom & Winters, LLP, or Bank of America, N.A. There never was a tender of any actual check or money.

The Property ultimately went to sale December 12, 2012, where Appellant purchased the property. Foreclosure Deed, 1PA102 - 104.

Respondents in their motion for summary judgment has not pled Miles Bauer Bergstrom & Winters, LLP, or Bank of America, N.A took any other action, or that notice of the foreclosure sale was not known of or received, before the foreclosure sale transpired. LN Management plead in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment that, "Mr. Garabedian, also worked at Miles Bauer with Mr. Jung and there was nothing that precluded him from tendering a check for the nine months of the assessments. Nothing in their communication indicates that COA would have rejected the payment and in fact COA provided Miles Bauer with a payoff statement and adequate information to determine the nine months that would have been necessary to protect BANA's interest and yet Miles Bauer made no attempt to pay." 4PA873, Lines 1 - 7.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred as a matter of law in granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment when there was never any actual tender of money without any evidence of futility, that the five year rule had run, that the 2014 MSJ that was subsequently set aside was not a tolling of the five year rule, that there was no evidence of the sale being a sub-priority sale and that BANA failed to disclose any alleged Fannie Mae interest and thus waived the defense, requiring reversal and remand.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is only available to resolve issues of law where the facts are not in dispute. <u>Molino v. Asher</u>, 96 Nev. 814, 618 P.2d 878 (1980). Summary judgment orders are reviewed de novo. <u>Houston v. Wells</u> <u>Fargo Bank</u>, 119 Nev. 485, 488, 78 P.3d 71, 73 (2003).

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRORED IN FINDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE FIVE YEAR RULE HAD BEEN TOLLED BY THE 2014 MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT THAT WAS SUBSEQUENTLY SET ASIDE

The case was filed on October 3, 2012. The Five Year Rule expired on October 3, 2017. There has never been a request to extend the Five Year Rule and no stipulation and Order has been entered. Respondents argued that the grant of summary judgment on August 13, 2014 constituted bringing the matter to trial and thus tolled the five year rule. Respondents offered no good cause why the matter should not have been dismissed for want of prosecution over three years after the five year rule has expired.

NRCP 41(e) only applies if an action is not brought to trial within 5 years after the action was filed. *See* NRCP 41(e)(2)(B). This Court defines "trial" as "the examination before a competent tribunal, according to the law of the land, of questions of fact or of law put in issue by pleadings, for the purpose of determining the rights of the parties." <u>United Ass'n of</u> <u>Journeymen & Apprentices of Plumbing & Pipe Fitting Indus. v. Manson,</u> 105 Nev. 816, 819–20, 783 P.2d 955, 957 (1989).

Appellant filed a Motion to set aside the August 13, 2014 grant of summary judgment which was granted and the summary judgment was set

aside in September, 2014. Black's Law Dictionary defines "set aside" as "To set aside a judgment decree, award, or any <u>proceedings</u> is to **cancel, annul**, **or revoke them** at the instance of a party unjustly or irregularly affected by them. <u>State v. Primm</u>, 01 Mo. 171; <u>Brandt v. Brandt</u>, 40 Or. 477, 07 Pac. 508. [Emphasis added] The very act of revoking or annulling an order is to determine that it never existed and to return to the parties to the point prior to the grant of the order. In this case, the district court erred by granting summary judgment based on Respondents argument that the grant of summary judgment constituted "bringing the matter to trial" after it had annulled that judgment thus making it a non-existent event.

Respondents further argued that Appellants Motion to Reopen the case on June 21, 2018 constituted a waiver of the five year rule however they failed to provide any evidence that Appellants requested a waiver or extension of the five year rule anywhere in its motion. Appellant's motion simply requested that the Court reopen the case for the sole purpose of allowing Appellants to file a Motion for Summary Judgment which was filed on July 30, 2018 and heard on September 27, 2018 and denied.

Importantly during this time was the fact that on February 21, 2017, the district court held a status check which resulted in the Court dismissing all the claims of Respondents without prejudice which left only LN's claims

in the matter. At no time after that did Respondents move to set aside that dismissal thus making their Motion for Summary Judgment inappropriate because they had no remaining claims in the case.

Following the denial of the Appellant's MSJ, Respondents did nothing for over two more years and never sought to extend the five year rule. Despite the fact that Appellant had sought to reopen the case for the sole purpose of filing an motion for summary judgment and having done that, Respondents made no effort to seek a further extension of the five year rule nor moving to set aside the dismissal of their claims thus waiving that right.

Based upon the foregoing, the district court erred in finding that the five year rule had not run and that the matter must be dismissed for want of prosecution pursuant to NRCP 41(e). As such the Court must reverse and remand with instructions to dismiss the matter for lack of prosecution within the five year rule.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRORED IN FINDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT AN INQUIRY LETTER, WITHOUT MONEY OR EVIDENCE OF FUTILITY IS A LEGAL TENDER OR THAT THE HOA FORECLOSED ON ONLY A SUB-PRIORITY LIEN ENTITLING RESPONDENTS TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW

Equity requires all persons materially interested in a deed of trust with notice of a HOA foreclosure sale to make inquiry. <u>SFR Investments Pool v.</u> U.S. Bank, 130 Nev. Adv Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), citing In re

______, 52 F.3d 451, 455 (2d Cir. 1995) "[I]t is well established that due process is not offended by requiring a person with actual, timely knowledge of an event that may affect a right to exercise due diligence and take the necessary steps to preserve that right."

In Ditech's motion for summary judgment, Respondent argued that the DOT was not extinguished based on Collections of America's ("COA") statement that they were not foreclosing on the super-priority portion of the lien because such a portion did not exist until the bank foreclosed. And that even if it did that tender would have been futile.

This Court addressed these very arguments in <u>Bank of America, N.A.</u> <u>v. Thomas Jessup, LLC Series VII</u>, 462 P.3d 255 (Table), 2020 WL 2306320 (unpublished). This Court held that "Appellants contend that ACS's September 2011 letter demonstrates that it foreclosed on only the subpriority portion of Foxfield's lien. We disagree, as ACS's mistaken belief regarding the foreclosure sale's effect could not alter the sale's actual legal effect, particularly when the superpriority portion of the HOAs lien was still in default at the time of the sale and the sale otherwise complied with NRS Chapter 116s requirements." That is exactly what Ditech argued is that COA's mistaken belief regarding the foreclosure sales effect does not alter the actual legal effect of the sale. COA, whether responding truthfully that it wasn't claiming a super-priority lien because of the misstatement of law by Jory C. Garabedian, and <u>provides a payoff because it believes it is a super-</u> <u>priority lien</u>, or mistakenly agrees with Jory C. Garabedian's misstatement of the law, but still provides a payoff, ultimately sold the subject property pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.

There was no evidence before the Court that when the lien was sold, the HOA subtracted from the lien the super-priority portion of the lien.

The only way to sell a non super priority lien is if the super priority portion has been satisfied. There is no provision in the law for a HOA to simply choose what portion of its lien it is selling, because the super priority portion always exists as a matter of law. Because of the lack of prior satisfaction of the super priority portion of the lien, it sold both liens, and the super priority portion of the lien extinguished Bank of America's deed of trust.

This Court went on to hold in <u>Jessup</u> that "While we recognize that Shadow Canyon supports appellants argument, *see id.* at 749 n.11, 405 P.3d at 648 n.11 (citing <u>ZYZZX2 v. Dizon</u>, No. 2:13-CV-1307, 2016 WL 1181666 (D. Nev. 2016)), the district court found that "Mr. Jung understood that failure to pay the superpriority portion of the lien would result in the loss of his client's interest in the property." The implication behind this

factual finding is that the district court determined it was unreasonable for Mr. Jung to abandon Miles Bauer's legal position regarding NRS 116.3116(2) based solely on ACS's September 2011 letter, and we are not persuaded that this finding was clearly erroneous." Mr. Garabedian, also worked at Miles Bauer with Mr. Jung and there was nothing that precluded him from tendering a check for the nine months of the assessments. Nothing in their communication indicates that COA would have rejected the payment and in fact COA provided Miles Bauer with a payoff statement and adequate information to determine the nine months that would have been necessary to protect Respondent's interest and yet Miles Bauer made no attempt to pay.

Ditech should further be equitably estopped from arguing tender because it had the last clear chance to prevent harm coming to innocent third parties, and chose to do nothing. <u>Mahban v. MGM Grand Hotels</u>, 100 Nev. 593, 596, 691 P.2d 421, 423 (1984). Yet the district court did not consider Ditech's duty to attempt to tender an actual check, and declared the single inquiry letter, a "legal tender", entitling Ditech to summary judgment as a matter of law.

However, an offer to make tender is not a legal tender.

In the unpublished June 15, 2018 Order of Affirmance in Bank of

America v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, Case 69323, this Court held in

part:

"Although Bank of America contends that its agent tendered the superpriority lien amount to the HOA's agent via a February 2011 letter, we are not persuaded that Bank of America's future offer to pay the superpriority lien amount, once that amount was determined, was sufficient to constitute a valid tender. See <u>Southfork Invs. Grp., Inc. v. Williams</u>, 706 So. 2d 75, 79 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998) ("To make an effective tender, the debtor must actually attempt to pay the sums due; mere offers to pay, or declarations that the debtor is willing to pay, are not enough.")," to which the court also cited -

"<u>McDowell Welding & Pipefitting, Inc. v. U.S. Gypsum Co.</u>, 320 P.3d 579 (Or. Ct. App. 2014) ("In order to serve the same function as the production of money, a written offer of payment must communicate a present offer of timely payment. The prospect that payment might occur at some point in the future is not sufficient for a court to conclude that there has been a tender " (internal quotations, citations, and alterations omitted)); cf. 74 Am. Jur. 2d Tender§ 1 (2018) (recognizing the general rule that an offer to pay without actual payment is not a valid tender); 86 C.J.S. Tender§ 24 (2018) (same)."

In Bank of America, N.A. v. SFR, Case 69323, Miles Bauer, on

behalf of Bank of America, wrote a letter to Absolute Collection Services,

the same as in this case where Miles Bauer, on behalf of Bank of America,

wrote to Collections of America inquiring for a payoff amount.

In the present case, Collections of America said to Miles Bauer, here's our position regarding your inquiry. However, distinct from that case, COA provided a Statement of Account on November 27, 2012.

After receiving the response and the Statement of Account in this case, Respondents did nothing. It did not send a follow up letter, file a court action, or do anything else. FFCL, 4PA963-991.

This Court has repeatedly stated that courts must look at the entirety of the circumstance that bear upon the equities. <u>Shadow Wood HOA v.</u> <u>N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp</u>, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1114 (2016). The district court did not look at the entirety of the circumstances in determining that the single inquiry letter, without payment, after receipt of a Statement of Account, creates legal tender as a matter of law.

Furthermore, in <u>7510 Perla Del Mar Ave. Tr. v. Bank of Arnerica,</u> <u>N.A.</u>, 136 Nev., Adv. Op. 6, 458 P.3d 348, 349 (2020), this Court held "an offer to pay the superpriority amount in the future, once that amount is determined, does not constitute a tender sufficient to preserve the first deed of trust". The Court in <u>Perla Del Mar</u> held that in order to be excused from making a tender, Respondents would have to show that payment would have been futile, which Respondents can not claim because there is no evidence that COA would have rejected the payment and there is no evidence that Respondents even attempted and was rejected

Respondents received the response for Collections of America and the Statement of Account, and Respondents made no subsequent inquiry or tender any money despite knowledge of the HOA foreclosure sale. There was never any money sent, just an inquiry letter. FFCL, 4PA963-991. Neither reason creates "legal tender" as a matter of law entitling Respondents to summary judgment, therefore this matter must be reversed and remanded.

ARGUMENT IS NOT FACT. AND THE FACTS DEMONSTRATE THERE NEVER WAS FUTILITY

It is said that hindsight is 20/20.

In this case the district court saw:

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