**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA**

LN MANAGEMENT LLC SERIES  
3111 BEL AIR 24G,

Appellant,

vs.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.;  
DITECH FINANCIAL LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed  
Dec 17 2021 07:21 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court  
Case No. 82534

**APPEAL**

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County  
The Honorable Mark R. Denton, District Judge  
District Court Case No. A-12-669570-C

---

**RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

---

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 8276  
NATALIE L. WINSLOW, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 12125  
NICHOLAS E. BELAY, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 15175  
AKERMAN LLP  
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200  
Las Vegas, NV 89134

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

such that Perla Trust purchased the property subject to the Bank's first deed of trust." *Id.* at 352.

*Perla Trust* did not create a new futility exception to tender. Rather, it confirmed the well-established principle that "[a]n actual tender is unnecessary where it is apparent the other party will not accept it." *Id.* at 351 (citing *Schmitt v. Sapp*, 71 Ariz. 48, 223 P.2d 403, 406-07 (1950)). This is because the "law does not require one to do a vain and futile thing." *Id.*; see also *Mark Turner Props., Inc. v. Evans*, 274 Ga. 547, 554 S.E.2d 492, 495 (2001) ("Tender of an amount due is waived when the party entitled to payment, by declaration *or by conduct*, proclaims that, if tender of the amount due is made, an acceptance of it will be refused." (alteration and internal quotation marks omitted)); *Chiles, Heider & Co. v. Pawnee Meadows, Inc.*, 217 Neb. 315, 350 N.W.2d 1, 5 (1984) ("A formal tender is not necessary where a party has shown by act or word that it would not be accepted if made." (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Shields v. Harris*, 934 P.2d 653, 655 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) ("If a demand for a larger sum is so made that it amounts to an announcement that it is useless to tender a smaller sum, it dispenses with the tender requirement." (internal quotation marks omitted)); see also 74 Am. Jur. 2d *Tender* § 4 (2012) ("A tender of an amount due is waived when the party entitled to payment, by declaration or by conduct, proclaims that, if tender of the amount due is made, it will not be accepted."); 86 C.J.S. *Tender* § 5 (2017) (same).

**B. BANA knew the HOA's trustee would not accept its tender**

The district court correctly determined this case falls under the excused tender framework. Just as in *Perla Trust*, BANA offered to pay the HOA, through Collections of America, the superpriority amount "actually due" with no impermissible conditions attached. Through Miles Bauer, BANA sent a letter to Collections of America requesting a payoff ledger showing the superpriority amount of the HOA's lien so that it could calculate and pay that amount. 4 PA 765-773. In response to BANA's letter, a representative from Collections of America and Miles Bauer had a telephone conversation. Following the call, Miles Bauer recounted the telephone call in an email to Collections of America. 4 PA 788-789. Collections of America then responded and confirmed it was not "foreclosing on a super-priority lien pursuant to NRS 116.3116" and that the HOA did not claim "to have a super-priority lien since the first mortgage [had] not [been] foreclosed." *Id.* BANA stood ready, willing, and able to tender the full statutory super-priority amount to protect the Deed of Trust, but the HOA obstructed BANA's ability to tender the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien through its representations and assurances. *Id.*

This court recently addressed this exact type of statement—denying that a lien had superpriority before the bank foreclosed—and found it provides sufficient evidence that tender would have been futile. *See U.S. Bank N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1 LLC*, No. 78003, 2020 WL 3003017, at \*1 (Nev. June 4, 2020) (unpublished) ("The

necessary implication of these statements is that [the HOA trustee] would not accept a superpriority tender before the first deed of trust was foreclosed").

**C. LN Management failed to rebut the evidence of futility**

The evidence Defendants presented below could create only one reasonable inference: Collections of America would not have accepted a valid tender from BANA, and BANA's counsel knew about that policy. Defendants carried their initial burden on this issue. *Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev.*, 123 Nev. 598, 602, 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007) ("The party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of production to show the absence of a genuine issue of material fact."). The burden of production then shifted to LN Management to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact, specifically, that Collections of America would have accepted a tender of the correct superpriority portion from Miles Bauer. *Id.* at 602-03, 172 P.3d 131 at 134 ("If such a showing is made, then the party opposing summary judgment assumes a burden of production to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact."). LN Management introduced *zero* contrary evidence to rebut this inference, nor does the record contain any such evidence. The district court correctly granted judgment in Defendants' favor.

**D. LN Management fails to identify any error below**

LN Management does not substantively address Defendants' evidence of futility in its opening brief, including Collections of America's own direct statement

that the superpriority lien did not apply. Instead, LN Management raises a number of meritless contentions in support of remand. Specifically, LN Management argues: (1) the district court was required to weigh the equities before granting judgment; (2) BANA's offer to pay the superpriority amount does not constitute a tender; (3) BANA should have "done more" to protect its interest; and (4) Collections of America could not have conducted a subpriority sale despite their representations. AOB 11-21.<sup>7</sup> Defendants addresses these arguments in turn.

**1. The court was not required to weigh the equities**

The district court found BANA's excused tender preserved the deed of trust as a matter of law. 4 PA 953-954. The district court was not, as LN Management suggests, still required to weigh the equities. This court did not balance the equities in *Diamond Spur*, instead confirming a valid tender cures the default on the superpriority portion of the lien, preventing a superpriority foreclosure. 427 P.3d at 120-21. This court echoed this sentiment in *Perla Trust*, noting "[t]he district court did not grant the Bank equitable relief; instead, it determined that Perla Trust took title to the property subject to the Bank's deed of trust because the superpriority tender, or rather the excuse thereof, cured the default as to that portion of Mandolin's

---

<sup>7</sup> LN Management also curiously argues Defendants did not include an affidavit in their underlying summary judgment motion. Notwithstanding that there is no evidentiary requirement that futility be proven through an affidavit, Defendants did provide the affidavit of Miles Bauer in support of its motion. 4 PA 765-773.

lien *by operation of law*. *Perla Trust*, 136 Nev. at 65 n.1 (emphasis added). This court should summarily disregard any suggestion the district court was required to weigh the equities in granting summary judgment on futility of tender.<sup>8</sup>

## **2. Whether an offer constitutes a tender is irrelevant.**

LN Management argues that an offer to tender is not a legal tender. This argument is immaterial to the district court's judgment. The district court did not find that BANA's offer to tender constituted a valid tender. Rather, it found that Collections of America's conduct rendered tender futile, excusing the need for BANA to send a formal tender payment. 4 PA 953-954. These are distinct issues.<sup>9</sup>

## **3. BANA had no obligation to "do more"**

LN Management suggests BANA was required to take additional actions after receiving Collections of America's response, such as sending yet another letter or filing a court action. This argument fails. BANA had no obligation to take any additional steps once it was already clear the trustee would not accept a proper tender (because it expressly believed there was no superpriority lien that even could be satisfied through tender). As explained in *Perla Trust*, "[t]he law does not require one to do a vain and futile thing." *See Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 351 (citing *Schmitt v.*

---

<sup>8</sup> Even if the equities were relevant to the futility analysis, LN Management fails to demonstrate the equities are in its favor. They are not. *See* 4 PA 985-988.

<sup>9</sup> LN Management also argues Ditech should be "equitably estopped" from arguing tender based on some purported duty to tender. No such duty exists. And, in any case, the district court ruled based on futility of tender, not tender.

*Sapp*, 71 Ariz. 48, 223 P.2d 403, 406-07 (1950)). In fact, none of the authorities underlying and relied on in *Perla Trust* require the tendering party to take **any** affirmative action—they all focus on the action of the creditor or lienor:

- "An actual tender is unnecessary where it is apparent ***the other party*** will not accept it. The law does not require one to do a vain and futile thing." *Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 351 (*quoting Schmitt v. Sapp*, 223 P.2d 403, 406-407 (Ariz. 1950));
- "Tender of an amount due is waived when ***the party entitled to payment***, by declaration or by conduct, proclaims that, if tender of the amount due is made, an acceptance of it will be refused." *Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 351 (*quoting Mark Turner Props. v. Evans*, 554 S.E.2d 492, 492 (Ga. 2001));
- "A formal tender is not necessary where a party has shown by act or word that it would not be accepted if made." *Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 351 (*quoting Chiles, Heider & Co. v. Pawnee Meadows, Inc.*, 350 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Neb. 1984));
- "[T]ender was waived where it was clear that 'if a strict legal tender had been made, ***defendant would not have accepted the money.***" *Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 351 (*quoting Alfrey v. Richardson*, 231 P.2d 363, 368 (Okla. 1951));

- "A tender of an amount due is waived when *the party entitled to payment*, by declaration or by conduct, proclaims that, if tender of the amount due is made, it will not be accepted." *Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 351 (*quoting* 74 Am. Jur. 2d *Tender* § 4 (2012));
- "[T]ender is excused 'where *the lienor* claims a larger sum than he or she is entitled to collect.'" *Perla Trust*, 458 P.3d at 352 (*quoting* *Jenkins v. Equip. Ctr., Inc.* 869 P.2d 1000, 1003 (Utah Ct. App. 1994)).

The only relevant question is whether the party entitled to payment made clear that tender would be rejected. If it did (as it did here), then tender is excused even if the tendering party does nothing at all. LN Management's attempt to shift the blame fails on its face.

#### **E. Collections of America conducted a subpriority sale**

LN Management argues Collections of America's representations that it was conducting a subpriority sale are irrelevant because they could not change the legal effect of the sale. This argument fails for several reasons.

**First**, for the purpose of the futility analysis, it is immaterial whether the HOA and its trustee *actually* conducted a subpriority sale. The relevant inquiry is whether their representations rendered formal tender excused. Here, they plainly did. *See U.S. Bank N.A.*, 2020 WL 3003017, at \*1.

**Second**, LN Management's representation is factually incorrect. The HOA stipulated, and the district court approved, an order affirmatively establishing that its lien did not contain a superpriority component, such that the HOA foreclosure sale could not have extinguished the deed of trust. SA 3. This was consistent with the HOA's representations prior to the sale. At no point in time did LN Management move for reconsideration of this order. The district court then reiterated the subpriority status of the sale in its findings of fact and conclusions of law. 4 PA 954-955. As the district court noted, an association can choose to foreclose on either the subpriority or superpriority portion of its lien. *Id.* (citing *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. New York Cmty. Bancorp, Inc.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1116 (2016) ("And **if** the association forecloses on its superpriority lien portion, the sale also would extinguish other subordinate interests in the property."); *see also River Glider Ave. Tr. v. The Bank of N.Y. Mellon*, No. 79808 (Nev. Sup. Ct. Sept. 18, 2020) (unpublished disposition) (finding representations of purchaser in judicial proceeding determinative for whether a sale was a subpriority or superpriority sale). LN Management does not even address this finding in its opening brief. *Rizvi*, 2021 WL 5276632, at \*1.<sup>10</sup>

...

---

<sup>10</sup> LN Management also entirely fails to address the district court's finding that the deed of trust alternatively survived as a matter of equity. 4 PA 985-88. This alone commands affirmance.

### **III. The District Court Correctly Determined the Five-Year Rule Under NRC 41(e) Had Not Expired.**

#### **A. LN Management fails to address each ground on which the district court found the five-year rule inapplicable.**

The district court's findings of fact and conclusions of law detail five independent grounds to support its ruling that the five-year rule had not expired. These include: (1) the action was brought to trial prior to NRC 41(e)'s expiration, rendering it inapplicable; (2) LN Management stipulated to forego the five-year rule; (3) judicial estoppel forecloses LN Management from obtaining dismissal; (4) equitable estoppel and waiver bar LN Management's five-year rule argument; and (5) the five-year rule had not run due to tolling. 4 PA 943-947.

LN Management's opening brief only superficially addresses the district court's first and second grounds, while completely ignoring the remaining three grounds for the district court's decision. *See* AOB at 9-11. This alone is fatal to LN Management's appeal on this issue. *Rizvi v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n as Tr. for Bluewater Inv. Tr. 2018-A*, No. 82010, 2021 WL 5276632, at \*1 (Nev. Nov. 10, 2021) (affirming district court where appellant failed to address each reason for its determination); *see also Hillis v. Heineman*, 626 F.3d 1014, 1019 n.1 (9th Cir. 2010) (affirming where appellants did not challenge alternative ground on which the district court dismissed); *AED, Inc. v. KDC Inv., LLC*, 307 P.3d 176, 181 (Idaho 2013) ("[I]f an appellant fails to contest all of the grounds upon which a district court

based its grant of summary judgment, the judgment must be affirmed."); *Gilbert v. Utah State Bar*, 379 P.3d 1247, 1254-55 (Utah 2016) ("[W]e will not reverse a ruling of the district court that rests on independent alternative grounds where the appellant challenges only one of those grounds.").

Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived. *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161, 252 P.3d 668, 672 (2011); *see also* NRAP 28(a). Because LN Management failed to address each basis for the court's five-year rule determination, this court should summarily affirm.

**B. The five-year rule under NRCP 41(e) does not support dismissal.**

Even if the court considers LN Management's arguments, they still fail for each of the reasons detailed in the district court's underlying order.

**1. The district court action was previously brought to trial.**

NRCP 41(e) only applies if an action is not brought to trial within 5 years after the action was filed. *See* NRCP 41(e)(2)(B). The Nevada supreme court defines "trial" as "the examination before a competent tribunal, according to the law of the land, of questions of fact or of law put in issue by pleadings, for the purpose of determining the rights of the parties." *United Ass'n of Journeymen & Apprentices of Plumbing & Pipe Fitting Indus. v. Manson*, 105 Nev. 816, 819–20, 783 P.2d 955, 957 (1989). Under this definition, "proceedings leading to a complete grant of

summary judgment constitute a trial" for purposes of the rule. *Monroe v. Columbia Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 123 Nev. 96, 100, 158 P.3d 1008, 1010 (2007).

It is undisputed the district court granted summary judgment in favor of Ditech on August 13, 2014. 2 PA 264-70. The order granted Ditech's motion "in its entirety" and constituted the "final order/judgment in this matter." *Id.* LN Management does not argue that this August 2014 order failed to bring the action to trial within the meaning of NRCP 41(e). Instead, LN Management argues the court should simply ignore the effect of this order on the five-year rule because the district court ultimately granted LN Management's motion to set aside the judgment in September 2014. AOB at 10. This argument fails for several reasons.

**First**, nowhere in the underlying record did LN Management argue the motion to set aside negated the effect of the initial judgment on NRCP 41(e). *See generally* 4 PA 868-79. Arguments not raised to the district court below cannot be considered on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 53, 623 P.2d 981, 984 (1981).

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